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			Brian Fitzpatrick (1905–65) is remembered for pioneering studies of Australian economic and labour history. Celebrated for a quirky blend of Marxism and libertarianism, for geniality and common sense, he was also notable for his gentlemanly pugnacity as a debater, publicist and political commentator. Too sceptical to follow any party line, eclectic in his friendships, he was a familiar figure for several decades in Melbourne’s intellectual, artistic and bibulous underworld. 

			Fitzpatrick graduated from the University of Melbourne in 1925 with first-class honours in Arts. He was the first chief of staff of the student newspaper Farrago, and founder of the University Labour Club. He worked as a journalist in London, Sydney and Melbourne from 1925 onwards and helped to organise the Australian Council for Civil Liberties. As general secretary from 1938, he provided an effective voice for many victims of restrictive legislation and heavy-handed administration, especially Jewish and anti-Fascist refugees.

			Fitzpatrick is survived by his children David and Sheila, both of whom are historians.

		

	
		
			

			INTRODUCTION

			Over eighty years ago, a young Australian journalist without a newspaper decided to try his hand at writing a novel. He was Brian Fitzpatrick (1905–65), later well known as an historian, as a radical polemicist and lobbyist on the fringe of the Labour movement and as an indefatigable advocate of civil liberties. Apart from a few years in London and Sydney, his “radical life” was spent in Melbourne. He is remembered for pioneering studies of Australian economic and labour history, especially British Imperialism and Australia, 1788–1833 (1939) and The British Empire in Australia (1941). He was celebrated for a quirky blend of Marxism and libertarianism, for geniality and mother wit, and for his gentlemanly pugnacity as a debater, publicist and political commentator. Usually without regular income, never an “academic”, too sceptical to follow any party line, eclectic in his friendships, he was a familiar figure for several decades in Melbourne’s intellectual, artistic and bibulous underworld. As general secretary of the Australian Council for Civil Liberties from 1938, he provided a voice for many victims of restrictive legislation and heavy-handed administration, especially Jewish and anti-Fascist refugees. His friendship with leading socialists in the Australian Labour Party, such as Herbert Vere Evatt, and his ingenuity as a lobbyist, ensured that surprisingly many of his personal campaigns were successful. Yet his political influence was less important than his independence of mind and generosity of spirit. These qualities left an indelible mark on his friends and family, which included no less than four historians (his wives Kathleen and Dorothy and his children Sheila and David). Almost half a century after his death, few remain who knew him personally, or even by reputation. Through the belated publication of his only novel, The Colonials, new generations of readers may get to know his unique personality and his idiosyncratic view of a nation since transformed, almost beyond recognition.

			At the beginning of the 1930s, and the middle of his own twenties, the course of Brian Fitzpatrick’s future career seemed anything but clear. Newspapers were numerous but short-lived and in bitter rivalry, so that his brief tenure as editor of the failing Sydney daily, The World, entailed no certainty of a secure living from journalism. Politics was becoming ever more unmistakably the preserve of bosses and tricksters rather than men of vision or goodwill, and thus had diminishing attraction for a university graduate whose skill lay in using words rather than people. Yet, after a brief spell at Fleet Street in 1926–7, Fitzpatrick had decided to make his mark in Melbourne or Sydney rather than London. Like many others of similar bent who preferred to stay home, he began to scrutinise carefully his fellow Australians in the hope of better understanding himself, even if, for the time being, he could not influence them. In London he had written:

			I must (I think) be setting out again

			To marvel at your cable-trams and such

			Antipodeans I neglected when

			Strangely, I thought I did not love you much.

			Once home he published verses, newspaper pieces and a short story that drew upon his own experience as an Antipodean overseas. He remembered himself with affection, amusement, detachment—already his younger self had receded into the background tapestry, into the third person. He was ripe for writing an autobiographical novel.

			More than most men, Fitzpatrick led a life of clearly marked phases, which he closed emphatically by burning papers, moving city or writing, in verse or prose, meditations upon the phase just ended. He left London battered, miserable and homesick, yet was scarcely aboard the boat for Sydney before he had composed an elegy for himself and his Fleet Street associates:

			Now, as my ship puts out to sea,

			One vagrant wish finds home in me:

			That peace fall east of Temple Bar,

			Where all my old companions are.

			The function of words like these was at once to sum up and bury an episode of life: in later years it was only by great exertion that his son could draw forth any but the tersest recollections of Brian Fitzpatrick’s life before parenthood. The Colonials, rather belatedly, marked the end of his effective membership of his own parents’ family. For him the family, like the novel, stopped with his father’s death in 1920—despite the fact that he probably typed the book at his mother’s home some time before her death in March 1932. After writing The Colonials he lost touch with even his closest relatives to a quite remarkable degree, in many cases never to resume contact. Writing had been an act at once therapeutic and parricidal: if it was engendered out of mingled feelings of bitterness, involvement and affection, its completion left the writer not merely detached from, but largely indifferent to his subjects. Having settled up old scores it wiped the slate clean.

			Doubtless many autobiographical writings are coloured by the author’s wish to exorcise as well as portray or celebrate the ghosts of his upbringing. But The Colonials is unusual in that its major theme is at one with that underlying impulse towards exorcism. For its theme is the disintegration, not merely of Brian Fitzpatrick’s immediate family, but of the entire line which had connected Moonee Ponds with Ireland, Scotland and the Isle of Man. The life of the “Collins” family in the suburbs of Melbourne is made to epitomise that of innumerable others in which domestic precepts of exotic (and particularly Irish) origin were losing their sway. Denis Collins, the father of the novel’s family, so much resembled

			… a million Irishmen of forty-five or thereabouts, in Ireland, America and Australia, that it seemed incredible that any problem of his could be individual. That small, cleft, obstinate chin, those penthouse dusty brows, that matching half-moon moustache, completing a circle with the jaws, that dark skin taut on the cheek bones, those embushed but latently truculent eyes, they were the residue in the crucible, the result of the experiment, the end of the road.

			Denis is presented as among “the subtler victims of time,” whose severe notions of the proper manner of conducting a household and ferocious adherence to a rule were hopelessly at odds with his surroundings. He was doomed “to a paterfamiliarity that could not be better than foster-parenthood because the children were not born in and of Clare.” In Ireland, “where men had grandmothers,” local routes of escape were few and fathers or priests dictated to their families or flocks as of right. But Australia was too big, too open: the resentments of children were too easily translated into physical or psychological liberation. In The Colonials the Irish familial tradition is depicted as both the most enduring and most malignant: Mrs Collins’s British ancestors had already mixed religious affiliations and softened Scotch severity with Manx mellowness in previous generations. With Denis’s death, his family was left to decay in peace, almost. 

			The disintegration of the Collinses is portrayed not just as a universal consequence of children’s growing up, nor just as a stereotype of the unsuccessful transplantation of Irish habits to Australia, but also as a product of the Great War. Early in the novel the Collins children are still firmly shackled, scarcely conscious yet of resentment against their father’s gravity, frugality and defiant friendlessness. But after 1914 they not only grow up but seize the opportunities for severing family ties offered by the War. Guy, the eldest son, enlists at once; Peter, only sixteen, perjures his way into uniform; their sisters find unexpected jobs; only young Hugh misses out on the benefits of war. For contemporary readers, an absorbing aspect of The Colonials will probably be its account of wartime life in a Melbourne suburb, of the persistent zest with which those at home celebrated the fight, long after the men in the trenches had begun to grow bitter and cynical. In the Collins family zest was no mere product of government propaganda, for it survived shrewd awareness of the mendacity of official reports of enemy casualties and Empire victories. Rather it emerged from the discovery that war’s effect was to weaken social control within families even as it strengthened state control within society, to make it easier for Australian offspring dissatisfied with their lot to pack up and decamp.

			If The Colonials were simply a study of progressive disintegration, ending neatly in death, it would surely leave a ripple of raised eyebrows in its wake. Who could give credence to the notion that this “queer, closed convent of a family” died with its paterfamilias, never to be recreated in the houses of his children? The wise great-aunt Bella might declare: “It’s a new age, man! … We’re no longer Colonials. We should give up being satisfied with Colonial ways.” But these words are intended not as a statement of fact, but as a challenge or exhortation. This challenge is emphatically rejected by Guy, who is pictured as choosing to renew rather than reject the constraints of his upbringing. Indeed Guy is made to reinvigorate family discipline upon his return from war service, while Denis is dying: his mother, eager to turn the clock back, “laid her hand for a moment on his shoulder. It was a compact: the king is dead, long live the king.” As for young Hugh, whose mind we observe for the last time aged fourteen, his success in avoiding his father’s shadow is left in suspense. It would be inappropriate for another son, lodged securely in the next generation, to make judgement, except to say that in the large matters of affection and generosity Brian Fitzpatrick as father was the antithesis of Denis Collins. But in small matters, habits of speech and of silence, Fitzpatrick was the son of his father and doubtless father of his son. As Denis Collins says in the splendid final scene of his misgivings at death’s door:

			But how can there be freedom of the will when we do not begin to know the wellsprings of our motives and actions? The millions of experiences that my ancestors and I have had all affect my choice. Yet I don’t know what my ancestors’ experiences were, and I have forgotten most of my own—thrust many of them out of consciousness, only too glad to be rid of them. But I have good authority for saying that I am not rid of them. They lurk about, beyond the threshold of my consciousness, and everything I do is at their disposition. I could not have lived intelligently—they would not have let me.

			Of course Denis Collins was wrong—the man who keeps his wits about him and knows something about those prefabricated responses lurking within can take evasive action at critical moments. The Colonials is at once a celebration of human capacity for escaping captivity, and a warning that the free man tends to build his own cage.

			The Colonials was, at the time of writing, unusual among Australian novels both for its style and material. It has no single narrator; instead, its perceptions are distributed among the male members of the Collins family. Of these observers Hugh (being closest to the writer) is most amorphous; Guy most sharply delineated; Denis most complex and perhaps most engrossing. Peter, the intermediate son, his two sisters and mother are portrayed with affection. But since they are largely observed from without rather than subjectively, their individuality is conveyed less immediately than that of Denis or his eldest son. Affection in this novel is mainly reserved for the female: insight for the male. At times the writer’s insight is subjected to discursive passages of analysis and commentary, which might be deemed disruptive to the flow of narrative. Yet The Colonials is far more a “psychological” novel than a social panorama or a story with a plot. Unlike The Fortunes of Richard Mahony, one of the few Australian family sagas to precede it, Fitzpatrick’s novel does not convey a strong visual sense of its setting—the streets of Moonee Ponds or the country about Warrnambool. The author might marvel at Melbourne’s cable trams, but his true concern was with those Antipodeans of the suburban middle classes who had been so cruelly neglected by Australian writers. It is surely odd that Australia, already one of the world’s most urbanised regions by the late nineteenth century, had generated novelists almost exclusively obsessed with outback life. Those who had turned to the city were most often women writing about women for women (such as Catherine Spence, Mrs Praed and “Tasma” or Ada Cambridge). The disreputable larrikin had found his chronicler in the English-born novelist Louis Stone, whose book Jonah was reissued and reread just after Brian Fitzpatrick had probably finished The Colonials. But the lower middle classes of the cities, well served in England by such writers as H. G. Wells, had virtually been ignored by novelists of Australia (except for the New Zealander A. H. Adams’s waggish tale of an elderly bank-clerk in love, Galahad Jones). In any case, The Colonials was surely the first Australian novel to capture the nuance of a schoolteacher’s condition—underpaid, conscious of moral superiority to his more vulgar and less well-informed neighbours, resentful of his low standing in a society differentiated by income or appearances more than intelligence or respectability. There is ample plunder here for social historians.

			Fitzpatrick not only chose unfamiliar themes for his novel, but also hoped by doing so to counteract what he considered to be the narrowness of Australian writing. In an introductory essay to his Songs and Poems, published in 1931, he protested against the activities of “literary cannibals” who had sanctified the work of “our primitives”. Only when Australian society had settled down would it be appropriate to celebrate the work of the old “wattle and bottle” writers, and then their ballads and tales would be interesting only as a curious effusion of a society long since defunct. Meanwhile Australian authors should be wary of prepackaged “traditions”, whether derived from outback or English models, which unpredictable Australia might render obsolete at any moment. In words reminiscent of W. B. Yeats, he wrote that

			… no community can produce a literature able to maintain its place with the world’s while it is still at grips with its environment. A less settled society than the Australian, which in every direction has been experimenting feverishly for a hundred years, cannot be conceived. There is not one principle of the social and economic system which it peculiarly has evolved, for instance, which is not now in imminent danger of being scrapped. We are no more settled now, we have no more attained to that leisure which is a prerequisite of art and is found only in societies no longer wracked by economic and political birth-throes, than we were and had forty years ago.

			In that turbulent era the best a writer could do was to stick to the “concrete image” drawn from experience, “to twang his lyre without draping himself in flags”, and to repudiate “a self-conscious Australianism clamant for more and better gum leaves”. Even if Australia were as yet incapable of generating a national literature, it was surely capable of producing distinctive writers.

			Some fourteen years later Fitzpatrick wrote a second introductory essay entitled “The Australian Tradition”. By 1945 it was clear that he had grossly overestimated the plasticity of Australia’s political and economic institutions at the onset of the Depression, and correspondingly underrated the chances of creating a national literature. Moreover the Bush tradition no longer seemed to him so starkly irrelevant to modern Australia as it had done in 1931: it should be modified rather than scrapped. Yet the necessary modification was major, and until very recently no writer except for Louis Stone had seriously attempted it:

			It has not been usual for an Australian writer to depart from the standard of human values with which Lawson challenged his time. However, an urbanisation of Australian life, in Lawson’s later lifetime and subsequently, took some of the reality out of his subject matter of “the slip-rails and the spur”, “Andy’s gone with cattle”, and so on. City-bred Australians, born outside the old colonial world of Lawson in which the squatter and the bush labourer were sundered as far as the mediaeval lord from the serf, would indeed retain something of the mutinous demeanour and habit of expression of the bush labourer, and of Lawson. But … After all, one in three of the Australians of the next generation knew little of any Australia save the Sydney or Melbourne streets where their lines lay.

			He rejoiced that the writers of Southern Stories were tackling urban and immigrant themes too long neglected. He made no mention of his own novel, rejected for publication some years earlier, in which he had followed with considerable flair the dictates of his own manifestos.

			The Colonials is not, however, mere manifesto dressed up in the forms of fiction. Though it contains much commentary, analysis and reference to episodes in history—material one might expect in the novel of a future historian—the extensive passages of dialogue and even monologue bear witness to a sharper ear than that allowed to most analytic thinkers (deafened by their own apophthegms, deadened by theory). There is a good deal of “Strine” in the opening chapters set in the country about Warrnambool, and many stanzas of songs and ballads from wartime. More distinctively, the novel reminds us keenly of the separation between words and motives, and of the stratagems used by expert talkers bred in the Irish tradition to accomplish their ends by generating, in rapid alternation, feelings of shame, sympathy and gratitude in their hearers. We hear the disreputable Uncle Mick nudging and finessing his way towards a “touch”, only to spurn the prize for fear of shaming his brother Denis before Mrs Collins. We witness Mrs Collins herself lovingly saving Hugh from the dreadful admission that he has failed his eyesight test for the navy, while Hugh imagines that she does not know. And then there is great-aunt Bella, forever failing to achieve her admirable goals because she has not the sensitivity to keep quiet at critical moments. Scenes like these are built upon “concrete images” of obstinate innocence challenged by crass wisdom or surprised by artifice. I suspect they will be lodged in readers’ memories long after the irritation caused by excessive commentary has vanished.

			Every attempt to render personal experience in the form of fiction invites the reader to wonder how closely the fiction is tied to the fact. Often enough the question is trivial: the value of imaginative writing has no necessary dependence upon its accuracy as reportage. Yet it is not without interest to contrast incidents and relationships as portrayed in fiction with their actual correlatives. An author’s decisions to simplify or embellish his experience tell us much of the writing process, of his interests and vision. Knowledge of the actual course of events, if retrievable, may help us to sniff out characters or episodes introduced for didactic or stylistic purposes. In the case of a writer whose career has since become the object of some general interest, it is extrinsically worthwhile to disentangle the fictitious from the actual occurrence. Brian Fitzpatrick’s biographers have naturally been concerned largely with his public career; in considering his youth on “the fringes of the spectacle”, the most recent commentator was heavily reliant on the treacherous evidence of The Colonials. Perhaps the need to check out the facts of family history life is unusually acute in the Fitzpatricks’ case, since in later life Brian, like his father, knew little of his ancestors’ experiences and easily forgot, or modified, his own. Great-aunt Bella’s musings are apposite to most members of his family:

			Ask our compatriots the full Christian names of their grandparents, and three out of four of ’em won’t be able to tell you. Ask the odd one where his great-grandparents were born, and he’ll tell you he has never been interested to enquire. That’s what this continent is—millions of square miles of fields of the fatherless.

			Denis Collins “never discussed his people or his extraction”; Brian Fitzpatrick, likewise.

			Consequently the author of this introduction does not enjoy the customary son’s privilege, of making biographical assertions drawn from family lore and therefore exempt from criticism according to the usual canons. Instead he has been compelled to gather scraps of information from many sources (see pp. 28–9). 

			Brian Fitzpatrick’s Irish ancestry culminated in his father’s parents, who emigrated to Victoria during the later years of the Gold Rushes. Peter Fitzpatrick left Liverpool for Melbourne aboard the Constance on 7 July 1855, arriving on 16 October. Unlike most Irish emigrants to Australia Peter received no government subsidy for his passage, and only one-quarter of the passengers on his half-empty vessel were Irish. He was twenty-two years old at the time of embarkation and described himself as a “joiner”, sharing his ticket with an English shopkeeper of the same age. Margaret Gallagher, a domestic servant aged 19 years, left Southampton nearly two years later, on 21 May 1857. She was an “assisted” emigrant, and her passage on the Talbot was probably far less comfortable than Peter Fitzpatrick’s: three times as many passengers were carried by a boat of one-third the tonnage. One-third of the shipload was single girls like herself, a great many of them of Irish birth. Soon after her arrival in Geelong on 25 August, Margaret was indentured as a servant to one Louis Berthaux, of Little River, on a three months’ contract at £1 weekly. She had not however been sponsored for emigration by any resident of the Geelong district, and it is probable that she had been selected for assistance by an agent in Ireland rather than by relatives or friends exploiting the “remittance” regulations of August 1856. She was Roman Catholic, and could read but not write. Her attributes were in no way remarkable, for among all Victoria’s female assisted emigrants from Ireland between 1852 and 1859 more than four-fifths were Catholic, while less than two-fifths were literate and 98 per cent of those who pretended to any occupation described themselves as servants. The vast majority was unmarried and close to Margaret’s age. We know less about Peter Fitzpatrick at the period of his voyage, though other sources reveal that he too was Roman Catholic and unable to write. But on the social ladder of the steerage class he occupied a slightly higher rung than Margaret, being a craftsman rather than a common servant or labourer, with means adequate to pay his fare of £19 or so.

			It was no easy matter to establish the Irish origins of Peter Fitzpatrick or Margaret Gallagher. Comparison of the relevant civil certificates and shipping lists revealed startling inconsistencies. Peter’s birthplace was variously recorded as in Dublin, Cavan and (in later certificates) Leitrim; Margaret Gallagher was probably born in Clare (according to ten out of eleven certificates consulted) but might also have come from Cavan or Donegal. Still more disturbing is the inconsistency with which parents’ names were recorded. Peter’s father always appears as Philip Fitzpatrick (farmer), but his mother as either Mary O’Reily or Kate Roddy. Margaret’s father is either John or Thomas Gallagher (farmer), while her mother is once Mary O’Connor and twice Bridget Powell. Confusion on so grand a scale as this should warn other amateur genealogists against excessive credulity towards official records, and remind them that impressively detailed returns such as those required by Victoria’s Registrar-General are probably less trustworthy (when dealing with a semi-literate population) than the simpler certificates kept in other nations. Readers may also suspect the operation of Fitzpatrick family forgetfulness or Irish caprice when confronted with this tangle of testimony, and call to mind an English broadsheet of the 1820s:

			“So, you seem to be a complete high-blooded gentleman,” replied the youth. “Yes, sir, I am a son of the great O’Callaghan, and brother to the great O’Brian; I am also related to all the O’s of Ireland, by my mother’s side of the house; likewise to the family of the Fitzpatricks, which have been well known in Ireland for forty thousand years.”

			“Well, sir,” said the young Barber, “I suppose that Fitzpatrick is your name?”

			“Yes, sir, my name is Patrick Fitzpatrick, from Down Patrick; I was born in Saint Patrick’s Street, at the sign of Saint Patrick, in Patrick’s lane, on Saint Patrick’s day in the morning.”

			It would be pointless to rehearse the laborious process by which candidate ancestors have been nominated and rejected or selected. My enquiry involved assessment of likely sources of error in the official records; collation of the Irish household valuation, household census, parochial and civil registers; and a good deal of petrol-consumption and leg-weariness. I have tramped the townlands about Belturbet in west Cavan, where the river Erne collapses into innumerable loughs and tributaries, forming damp green islands swarming with Fitzpatricks. This is the country of Philip Fitzpatricks, a combination of names extremely rare in most parts of Ireland despite the unusually great geographical dispersion of the surname (thus none of Clare’s eighty-odd households of Fitzpatricks was headed by a Philip in the 1850s). In Cavan I heard of Phildy Fitch the Sapper, Phildy the Shinner and Phildy the Root (bachelor), all of the same townland; of Phildy the Lough, the Holler and the Hill; of Phildy Rua Fitch, until quite recently “chieftain” of Carrignashoke; and I heard from an aged Cavan man in a caravan, Yeller Hughie Fitch, a ballad of innumerable stanzas. Yet nowhere in Cavan did I hear of a Philip Fitzpatrick with an Australian connection. I returned in disappointment to Australia, with nothing but pleasant memories and tantalising probabilities to report.

			By 1980 I was settled in Ireland and discountenanced by my failure to trace the origins of Peter Fitzpatrick. I noticed that in Leitrim, a few miles across the border from Cavan, there was not only a scattering of Philip Fitzpatricks but also a small bunch of householders named Roddy, the unusual surname which Peter was to couple with Fitzpatrick in remembrance of his mother’s family. After further fruitless though agreeable searching about Leitrim, I called at Fitzpatrick’s Ceili House in Mohill with the intention of celebrating my failure as historian and genealogist with a drink. There I met the family of the publican, a retired national teacher from nearby Aughnaglace, and was shown a rough family tree devised by a relative while on holiday from America. This revealed the elusive Fitzpatrick–Roddy connection and enabled me to reconstruct much of Peter’s family context; though his surviving cousins knew nothing of an Australian link as Peter, like so many Irish Australians, had failed to divert younger relatives from the more convenient passage to the United States. 

			Eventually I established that Peter was a child of the first marriage of Phildy Fitzpatrick, a powerful six-footer who died two years short of his century in 1898. He in turn was a younger son of Peter “the Major”, who is thought to have migrated from Cavan; and nephew to John “the Dandy”, who escaped punishment for the murder of a process server whom he “plugged with a one-pronged fork” until the man’s ghost appeared to visit him at his death-bed. Another Fitzpatrick from the parish of Aughavas fought with Humbert’s army at Ballinamuck in 1798, and is remembered for his presence of mind in rescuing an Aughnaglace piper who dreamily continued his performance after the French surrender. Neither outrage records nor local rumour reveals further family involvement in criminal or seditious activities; though the wife of one of Phildy’s nephews was evicted from her substantial farm in 1880 and spent her middle age in a Land League hut in “extreme poverty”, while her husband made off first to England and later America. Constabulary reports for the parishes of Cloone and Drumreilly indicate that Fitzpatricks were often the victims but never known to be the perpetrators of outrage in that unusually troubled district. One probable relative had three houses destroyed in 1828; another was “very much disliked in that Neighbourhood” and the target of boycott in 1836; while a third was the victim of an unsuccessful arms raid in 1845. These snippets suggest a more complex social background for Peter Fitzpatrick than that suggested by the Australian family belief, echoed in The Colonials, that Peter himself was an exile of 1848 with rebel origins.

			Though other near relatives were substantial farmers in the vicinity, Peter’s father farmed only 8 acres of indifferent land valued at £5.5.0 per annum in the General Valuation. His descendants still hold the farm, though the old cottage (still thatched and inhabited when photographed in 1936) is now demolished but for a section to the left of the entrance which serves as a poultry house. Statistics for the barony of Mohill in 1854 show that virtually no wheat was grown in the locality, the principal crops being oats and potatoes. There were relatively few sheep or dry cattle, but the number of milch cows, goats and poultry per holding was close to the overall Irish standard. Farms tended to be small and poor, three holdings in five being less than 15 acres in 1854. Leitrim was consistently among the counties of heaviest emigration after the famine, but its rate of assisted migration to the Australian colonies was usually lower than that for most other Irish counties. Nevertheless adjoining counties such as Cavan provided an important secondary source for the Irish in Australia, whose primary region of origin was Munster and the south midlands. Despite its poverty, post-famine Leitrim was not marked by widespread illiteracy and had few Irish speakers—Leitrim might be remote and inhospitable but it was not “backward”. Such, in brief, was the grim social background from which Peter Fitzpatrick emerged.

			It was Margaret Gallagher, not, as Brian Fitzpatrick believed, her future husband, that came from Clare. Clare was a county almost exclusively Catholic, half of whose population still spoke Irish in 1851, a county that had been ravaged hard and uncommonly long by the potato blight. Already by 1851 Clare’s farms were predominantly pastoral, and over the next few decades the cultivation of cash crops virtually ceased as its farmers specialised in rearing dry cattle for subsequent fattening in the more fertile midlands. More cattle, as Marx pointed out, meant fewer humans, and Clare suffered abnormally from reduced demand for farm labour after the famine. The 1854 agricultural statistics show that farms in the barony of Bunratty Upper (from which Margaret Gallagher came) tended to be larger than in Mohill, and above the national mean. Two farms in five exceeded thirty acres. Wheat was still a major crop in 1854, whereas oats and potatoes were less widely grown than in Fitzpatrick country. Sheep, goats and dry cattle were relatively numerous, while poultry as well as milch cows were fairly sparse. Margaret Gallagher was the fifth daughter and seventh child of a substantial farmer named Thomas Gallagher of Moyriesk (Ballycrighan) near Quin. The General Valuation recorded his holding as containing nearly 43 acres valued at £19.5.0, nearly four times as great as that farmed by Phildy Fitzpatrick. Thomas Gallagher’s descendants continue to farm Moyriesk, with its attractive stream, pastures and ring forts; the old cottage, though long supplanted by a more imposing structure of two storeys, remains identifiable among the outhouses. The Irish Gallaghers, like the Fitzpatricks, have forgotten their Australian connection. Yet the Quin district was notable for its contribution to Australian emigration, and Clare in general was a major source of Irish Australian settlement. By the mid 1850s it was supplying a fifth of all Victoria’s immigrants assisted from Ireland, more than any other county’s contribution. Most of these, like Margaret Gallagher, were young girls who entered Australia’s very favourable marriage market from below stairs. Peter and Margaret represent two important and distinct streams of Irish movement to Australia.

			The two streams converged publicly on 24 March 1861, when Brian Fitzpatrick’s grandparents were married at St Michael’s Roman Catholic Church, Little River. Twelve days earlier their first child, a daughter, had been born at the Nugget Hotel, West Geelong, where evidently Peter was a storeman. With proper discretion her parents preferred to use the Little River connection before having her baptised at St Mary’s, Geelong, on 2 April. For couples in a hurry Little River must have had considerable attractions: its little bluestone church was at this time the seat of a separate parish only a few miles by railway from Geelong, and the Reverend Ronald Rankin was casual in completing certificates of marriage and adept in using blots and erasures to obscure inconvenient trivia such as the date of celebration. In later life the Fitzpatricks almost invariably predated their marriage to 1860, sometimes to a fictitious date precisely nine months or one year before Mary Ann’s birth. The Catholic current clearly ran strong in the young couple. In October 1862 Peter John Fitzpatrick was born. By this time his father, at least, had learned how to inscribe his signature. But even at the marriage eighteen months earlier the elder Peter had shown signs of upward social aspirations. Though represented only by his mark, he had declared himself to be a “clerk”. In fact it seems that until 1865 he remained a storeman living in Yarra Street, down which he made periodic trips to St Mary’s for the baptism of his children. In Geelong there was little danger of loneliness for the Fitzpatricks since, as J. F. Hogan remarked, “from its earliest days Geelong has been largely peopled by the Irish”—like so many cities in Britain, America and Australia it had its own “Irishtown”. Geelong was both an important commercial centre and a launching place for those seeking fortunes from gold or sheep. It was an excellent base for a man without capital or education, but endowed with vigour and mother wit.

			By 1866 success had come to the Fitzpatricks. Peter was now “licensed publican” of the Excelsior Hotel at New Chum, Stieglitz (a township, later Steiglitz, once noted for its numerous unlicensed houses). Seven years earlier the New Chum bridge had been built, close to the spot where in 1855 the first gold rush in the district had occurred. Like many shrewd Irishmen Fitzpatrick had followed the road towards gold but found it more profitable to slake other men’s thirst than work up his own. In any case by 1866 most of the mining was in the hands of companies, one of which was run by a consortium of Stieglitz storekeepers. Storekeepers and publicans also dominated the town’s first borough council, and Peter Fitzpatrick was among the councillors who met in February 1866. Unfortunately for Peter 1866 also marked the end of Stieglitz’s boom, and within the next decade or so the council was to be amalgamated, the New Chum school closed, and many of the mining companies dissolved. Nevertheless Peter stayed at New Chum until about 1871, while Margaret continued to deliver herself of children (with the help of Mrs Lamb, accoucheur) and to revise and refine the story of her marriage for the benefit of the Deputy Registrar.

			By mid 1872 the Fitzpatricks were back in Geelong keeping an hotel in Ryrie Street, round the corner from their old address. At various times Peter was licensee and tenant of the Princess of Wales and Preston hotels, which were virtually opposite one another near the junction with Union Street. Both hotels dated back to about 1850. The Princess had been so renamed in 1865 by the former proprietor of the Prince of the same realm, while Preston’s even today retains the name of Patrick Preston (circa 1810–88) who in his later life moved to Little River as farmer, then again as publican. In the heart of hard-drinking Geelong Peter became quietly prosperous, but his body was wasting away. He died at Preston’s of phthisis (probably tuberculosis) on 21 July 1877, aged about forty-four years. His remains were followed to the Eastern Cemetery by members, in appropriate regalia, of the Geelong and Western District St Patrick’s Society, whose three or four hundred adherents aimed “to cherish the memory of Ireland, to promote the moral, social, and intellectual improvement of its members, and the Celtic Victorian race”, and to raise funds for life insurance, burial expenses and other benefits. After the procession from St Mary’s his body was deposited deep in the Roman Catholic reserve, where an expensive tomb and monument were installed. Indeed out of the £841 that Peter left behind him in personal estate, no less than £81 were consumed in laying him to rest. The accounts of administration show that he left assets and debts worthy of a self-made man. He left a life-assurance policy, cash in the Bank of Victoria and even a couple of shares in a second bank. Among his debts were 7s. 6d. to a bookbinder, which suggested how far the illiterate Irishman of 1861 had risen in the world. From joiner to “clerk”, from storeman to publican, Peter Roddy Fitzpatrick had climbed a familiar but slippery ladder during his two decades in Victoria.

			Margaret was still a young woman, and when Peter dictated his will from his deathbed he made elaborate provision for the protection of Fitzpatrick property in the case of remarriage of his “beloved wife”. This event took place, with almost indecent haste, in May 1878 when Margaret was coupled at St Mary’s with an illiterate buggy-builder named Donald Kennedy. Though wedded according to the rite of the Roman Catholic Church, Kennedy is reputed to have been a Protestant and came from the Island of Mull. He was at least seven years Margaret’s junior (according to the civil certificates Margaret had shrugged off three years’ accumulation of age since 1861), and his father was farming near Wagga Wagga. Margaret’s eighth and last child was born ten months after the wedding. The family now lived in the Princess of Wales, where Kennedy was listed as hotelkeeper as late as 1884. Yet in November 1880 Kennedy had deserted Margaret who obtained a protection order three years later. One can but speculate upon the possibility that the separation of Margaret and Donald extended only across the width of an hotel’s passage. In any case her marital complications did not lead to impoverishment, and when Margaret died of intestinal blockage on 24 January 1887 she left behind £27 more than Peter had done (despite the fact that upon her remarriage, the three-quarters of Peter’s property that remained had been withdrawn from her trusteeship). Her main assets were a life-assurance policy, a little cash and the furnishings of the Princess of Wales, with its six bedrooms and four living rooms. Her most substantial relic was a buggy valued at £30, which according to her daughter’s solemn affidavit had been acquired after the desertion of the buggy-builder. She distributed her estate among the children of both unions, and was buried in Peter’s tomb.

			Both Peter and Margaret had been careful to divide their property among all their offspring, and their eldest son Peter John Fitzpatrick received rather less than average. Young Peter had become a pupil teacher at the Christ Church State school in Moorabool Street only two months after his father’s death, so ensuring that for the time being the story of the Fitzpatricks would remain an elegant example of Irish upward mobility in colonial Australia. Although Christ Church School had been established by the Church of England it was under lease to the Education Department, and an inventory of its contents made during Peter’s time at the school shows that the influence of the Irish system of national education was still strong. In addition to maps, wall-sheets, botanical works by Baron von Mueller and eighty-seven Royal Readers, the school contained ninety-four “Irish books” at three levels. When he first taught there Peter was not yet fifteen years old, yet the course of his career was already determined. Before his premature retirement forty-two years later he was to teach at no less than fifteen schools, spread about the triangle joining Geelong, Ballarat and Warrnambool. Almost all his schools were small, some so small that they demanded only half his teaching time. His inspectors were slow to praise and his employers slow to promote him. By 1901, however, he was deemed “an excellent teacher; teaches in a quiet, impressive and intelligent manner; has a pleasant tone in the school”. Eventually he rose to the third class of State schoolteachers, earning £300 per annum at the end of his career. He had fulfilled a common Irish dream by winning modest success in a respectable profession that his father, however successful in the world, could never have hoped to enter.

			In early 1891 Peter Fitzpatrick, by then aged twenty-eight years, moved to Purnim to teach at his eleventh school. Soon afterwards he married Mary Louisa Callister, a 21-year-old teacher at Waterloo Flat who had already received lavish praise from her inspectors. Their marriage was both the culmination and the destruction of the Fitzpatrick story as a saga of Irish Catholic success. Mary Louisa was the product of a union of successful farming families of Protestant convictions: Callisters from the Isle of Man and Campbells from Argyleshire. The effect of mixing professions was to dilute enthusiasm rather than generate tensions. Mary Louisa had been born into Presbyterianism, but baptised her children and died within the Church of England. Peter was buried a Roman Catholic but made no attempt to bring his family into that church, although some of its members would later return to it. As with so many lines of Australians, the peculiarities of outlook and affiliation inherited from ancestors of a single faith and nationality were blurred when lines were crossed, when Catholic Irishman married Protestant Britisher. Peter the elder, with his little deceptions in pursuit of Catholic respectability and his membership of the St Patrick’s Society, had carried his origins as a badge on the lapel; Peter the younger, with his toleration, his silence and his shame, carried them as a birthmark not to be vaunted but concealed.

			In 1895 the Fitzpatricks made the short journey from Purnim to Cudgee, a few miles east of Warrnambool, where Mary Louisa resumed teaching as a sewing mistress whose needlework proved “exceptionally good”. Cudgee, which took its name from nothing grander than an Aboriginal term for kangaroo skin, was little more than a bend in the main road to Colac. But it had a railway station, a post office, an hotel and, of course, a school. The school (rebuilt in 1891) was small, but its classes were steadily swollen by the admission of ever more of the schoolteacher’s children. Among those too young for admission was Brian Charles Fitzpatrick, born on 17 November 1905. He and his two elder brothers were still remembered in August 1979 by an aged neighbour, solemnly referred to in the township as “Our Oldest Resident”. As Arthur Hose recollected: “There was three of ’em—Frank, Cecil and a young ’un. Lived in the old schoolteacher’s house, opposite the school over the main road. ’Course they wouldn’t be there now. All left years ago. Never ’eard what ’appened to ’em after.” But on other neighbours Brian, the young ’un, made a stronger impression. Next door lived a nurseryman named Charles Jukes, whose son was later to teach the schoolteacher’s grandson. As R. M. Jukes told me after my father’s death:

			I should like to tell you that nearly sixty years ago I was an infant living on a farm near the tiny township of Cudgee, where your grandfather Fitzpatrick ruled the little school. He, your grandmother and their large family were our nearest neighbours. My two much older brothers were inseparable companions of Frank and Cecil, and I used to track around in the wake of Brian, who was a year or two older than I. Not long ago I went mushrooming about the old place which went by the stately name of Kirkchrist. It was greatly altered, but some of the cypresses of its drive still stood, and I found the stumps of the walnut trees that were a landmark in our infancy. On the other side of the road the little brick school still deals in reading, writing and arithmetic.

			At the end of 1908 young Jukes had to find other companions, young Fitzpatrick other walnuts, Cudgee school another teacher. The family which moved to Winchelsea, up the highway towards Geelong, had grown too large and expensive to permit its mother to continue teaching and, presumably, hiring home help. So Mary Louisa resigned again from the Department’s service to practise her needlework and music in private. The family resumed something of its old nomadic way of life, moving school to Buninyong outside Ballarat in 1910 and occupying at least three different addresses in that city over the next five years. Only at the end of 1914, after the outbreak of war, did they settle down in the suburbs of Melbourne to enable Peter Fitzpatrick to take up duty as First Male Assistant Teacher at Moonee Ponds West. For the first time since emigration, the Fitzpatrick line tasted the life of the “Metropolis” with its temptations and, above all, its tedium. 

			In Moonee Ponds the Fitzpatricks rented a veranda’d and detached house of a single storey, larger than its neighbours on the same side of Milverton Street. Next door lived a solicitor named McNabb, whose young son Finlay (“Johnny Marriott” in the novel) had “Bon” Fitzpatrick for his hero. Finlay’s aunt later recalled that Bon showed an impressive sense of responsibility towards his acolyte—should Finlay disappear it was “all right, he is with ‘Bon’”. Young Jukes was a frequent visitor and fellow scout of Brian’s, and in summer the two would go bathing together at a nearby pool. But the suburban idyll was soon spoiled by the removal of Brian’s two elder brothers to join the forces. In Frank Fitzpatrick, during his training with the AIF at Warrnambool, little hint remained of the St Patrick’s tradition except perhaps in his zest for boxing and singing—and probably he would soundly have cuffed any Irishman who had dared to jeer at his “very solemn” rendition of “The Soldiers of the Queen”. So the Fitzpatrick household, transplanted at last from its provincial setting, full of zeal for Empire and apparent indifference towards the ancient obsessions with faith and nationality, began to fall apart.

			When Peter John Charles Fitzpatrick died on 25 February 1920, aged 57 years, he was granted a private funeral and, according to the notice of death in the Age, “sweet rest”. Unlike his neighbours in the Roman Catholic enclosure at Fawkner Cemetery, he was buried in a plot marked only by rough-hewn curbing and without a headstone. In contrast to the impressive monument erected for his father, Peter was celebrated only by the enigmatic inscription “P. J. F ‘At Rest’”. His remains, unlike his father’s, were never to be joined by those of any of his children or his widow (whose ashes were to be interred twelve years later in the Anglican section of the Springvale Necropolis), but only by clusters of snowdrops. It was as though the Fitzpatricks, having accomplished their escape from Ireland through intermarriage with a daughter of Man and Scotland, wished to paste up with all possible finality a transitional, and somehow shameful chapter in their family history. Yet Peter, according to the lights of his parents at least, had done well enough. He left no real estate, but willed all his personal estate to Mary Louisa without finding it necessary to devise impediments against her possible remarriage. His property was valued at £1149, some £300 more than the estate left by either of his parents though considerably less valuable if inflation be accounted for. The inventory of furniture shows how little of value the Fitzpatricks had collected as reward for their parsimony, rectitude and diligence: five bedsteads and a stretcher, three “Duchess” tables, a few other tables and chairs, a sideboard and dining-room suite, a single wardrobe, a clock worth 5/–. Linoleum had covered the floors of six rooms and part of the hall; only the dining room had been fully carpeted, to the value of £7. Whereas Margaret’s most precious relic had been a buggy, Peter’s was a piano valued at £50. The embryonic spirit of capitalist enterprise that had driven his father to purchase two £10 shares in the Australian and European Bank lay dormant in the schoolteacher, though it was to reappear emphatically in his son Frank. Peter John died as he had lived, modestly, without fuss and without fame.

			The family that laid his Irish remains so unobtrusively to rest could not have guessed that within a dozen years of Peter’s death his son Brian would not merely have done away with respectability but also threatened to open up the old wounds by writing an autobiographical novel. Nor could they have guessed that in Brian’s household the strains of “Faith of Our Fathers” (ironically but emphatically rendered) would be heard more often than those of “The Soldiers of the Queen”. What passed in the meantime is examined in Watson’s study of his “radical life”. At the novel’s end we shall leave Brian’s life suspended, in February 1920. We farewell him aged fourteen, studying at Essendon High School for the Intermediate examination, scouting, playing tennis, bathing, waiting impatiently to escape from the reticences and silences of home life, yet bearing the unmistakable imprint of his already half-forgotten forbears. The Irish Australian story of the Fitzpatricks was not yet over.

			The Colonials, like any “autobiographical novel” worth the tag, offers a treacherous guide to the facts of family history. Many of the episodes, people and places that have just been mentioned are referred to in the novel, but always the circumstantial detail has been altered. “Tarraboon”, if we were to base our guess on those geographical clues that liberally sprinkle the opening pages, would correspond not to Cudgee but to Port Fairy. Yet Cudgee, like Tarraboon, had in 1908 a publican named Flaherty (flatulated into O’Flaherty for the pages of the Directory), while in both townships German names such as Uebergang were as common as Irish. In fiction, the Collinses arrived at Grosvenor Street in 1908; in fact, the Fitzpatricks left Ballarat for Milverton Street (only a stone’s throw from Grosvenor Street, Moonee Ponds) six years later. These geographical tinkerings reflect the author’s wish to simplify and generalise the backdrop of his tale by amalgamating characteristics of the township and country town, or of the provincial city and Melbourne suburb. Parallel simplifications are evident in the novel’s dramatis personae. The five Fitzpatrick sisters are condensed into two girl Collinses while the triad of Fitzpatrick brothers is retained intact—a nice illustration of the dictum that the family “stood or fell by the efforts of its males”. Moreover we may be sure that no single Collins corresponds precisely to any particular Fitzpatrick, while all partake to some extent of the author’s own character and responses.

			The writer has laid innumerable traps for the reader rash enough to seek to translate his novel into a personal memoir. Whereas Mr Collins’s grandmother remarries and later divorces a MacDougall, Peter Fitzpatrick’s mother remarried and was deserted by a Kennedy (no divorce is recorded). It was Peter Fitzpatrick’s mother rather than father who was born “in and of Clare”, and despite several suggestions in the novel none of his forebears seems to have been involved publicly in the Irish Confederation of 1846–8. Both Brian and Hugh had great-aunts Bella, one from Beaufort and the other Creswick, but according to Brian’s elder sister the Bella of reality played no such educative or intrusive role in family life as that of her fictitious namesake. Squire Bennett of The Colonials, “hereditary baron” of the Tarraboon Special Survey, is surely based upon one of the Rutledge family of Farnham, near Warrnambool. Yet the Rutledges had moved out of Farnham by the turn of the century. If the novel is a treacherous guide to family history, family history provides an uncertain guide to the strengths and weaknesses of the novel. James Holroyd Bennett may have had no counterpart in the Warrnambool world of 1908, yet his appearance at Tarraboon station to farewell the teacher with appropriate condescension is vividly portrayed. Great-aunt Bella’s name may have been taken in vain, yet of all the novel’s women she is, perhaps, the most “true to life” if not to biography. The gallery of The Colonials is no mere collection of portraits and landscapes recorded by photography: it is filled with the issue of informed imagination. 

			Yet it would be wrong to dismiss as irrelevant to The Colonials an understanding of the story of the Fitzpatricks. As we have seen, Brian Fitzpatrick was at pains to present the Collinses as representative of innumerable Irish families that found national habits and modes of thought difficult to discard yet painful to retain in the unfamiliar surroundings of Australia. Now historians relish representative families, and some might suspect that it was the historian rather than the observer in Fitzpatrick that chose to present Denis Collins’s features as “the residue in the crucible, the result of the experiment, the end of the road”. Yet, if I am right, the family which Brian Fitzpatrick saw disintegrating about him in 1919 or so was indeed the result of an experiment not merely personal. His grandfather had taken one of the few paths towards “success” open to an Irish emigrant without money or learning or rude health: he had kept public houses. His father had achieved respectability on a modest budget: he had kept schools. But respectability had brought with it shame rather than pride in the background out of which it had emerged. The Colonials draws upon personal experience tempered by imagination to depict a stage in the cycle of emigrant families about which too little has been written either in history or fiction—the stage of decomposition of confidence and pride in one’s origins, without compensating growth of confidence and pride in one’s acquired nationality. It poignantly conveys a most uncomfortable state of mind, which will recur as long as people emigrate. 

			Today’s readers may find certain passages in this book obscure, archaic, even objectionable. Brian Fitzpatrick did not censor the words or thoughts of his characters, however “sexist” or “racist” these might seem; instead, he tried to convey the often blinkered outlook of his “Colonials” with clarity as well as charity, emphasising the gulf between his own adult liberalism and the ignorance and prejudice of the world from which he had emerged. In my view, any attempt at retrospective censorship or “Bowdlerisation” would weaken the novel’s interest as a social document, and sap its imaginative power in allowing us to glimpse a vanished world. Apart from correction of typing slips and a few minor changes, the text therefore follows Brian Fitzpatrick’s original typescript, now in the Fitzpatrick archive held by the National Library of Australia.

			I am indebted to the staff of the Department of Education, La Trobe Library and Public Record Office, Melbourne; St Mary’s Church, Geelong; the National Library of Ireland and General Valuation Office, Dublin; and the Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages in Cavan. The Government Statist, Melbourne, is indebted to me for my purchase of numerous certified copies of vital certificates. People who have given generous help include Criostóir McCarthy, Georgina Fitzpatrick, Revds F. R. S. O’Loghlen, Collins and Phair, the stationmistress at Little River, many cemetery attendants, Mr R. M. Jukes and Miss Margaret McNabb (both in letters written long ago), innumerable members of the Fitzpatrick families of County Cavan, the late Mrs Peggy (Ethel) Maxwell, née Fitzpatrick, the late Frank Fitzpatrick, Sheila Fitzpatrick, the late Mrs Dorothy Fitzpatrick and the late Mrs Margaret de Serville (who faithfully retyped a faded text). Among those who helped me in Leitrim and Clare should be mentioned Valentine and the late Peter Fitzpatrick; Michael Whelan, NT of Drumgunny, Aughavas; and John, Bridget, Mary, Margaret and Anne Gallagher of Moyriesk, all my generous hosts. Two published accounts of Brian Fitzpatrick’s life and work not only provided important information but also encouraged the present writer to pursue the improbable notion of putting into print his father’s novel last rejected for publication more than four decades earlier. These were the late Ian Turner’s introduction to Fitzpatrick’s A Short History of the Australian Labor Movement (Macmillan, 1968) and Don Watson’s Brian Fitzpatrick: A Radical Life (Hale & Iremonger, 1978). Most of this introduction was written in 1979–80, signified by “today” in the preceding paragraphs. 

			David Fitzpatrick, 28 May 2013
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